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All that hate me whisper together against me:


against me do they devise my hurt.





Psalm xli. 7
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1


‘This Ipswich Fellow’


In a report of 1519 which echoed the universal prejudice of the day, the Venetian ambassador Sebastiano Giustiniani noted tersely that Thomas Wolsey was of ‘low origin’. Yet in terms of the rarefied courtly world that he frequented, the Italian’s remark could hardly have been more apt, for the cardinal who by then had come to vie with princes is said to have grown up above a butcher’s shop in the provincial port and market town of Ipswich, ‘at the left corner of a little avenue leading down to the churchyard’ of St Nicholas. According to the Court Rolls relating to the borough, the premises had cost a total of £8 6s 8d to purchase, which, by the humble standards of the day, was no mean sum for any moderately successful tradesman to acquire. But if it smacked of thrift and earnest endeavour, the amount involved was hardly suggestive of grace or privilege. And the common well that the property shared with the neighbouring family of a certain Edward Winter provides ample proof of its limitations.


By contrast, the date of Wolsey’s birth is altogether more uncertain. In the same report, Giustiniani observed that the cardinal was ‘about’ 46 years of age, placing his birth towards the end of 1472 or in the early part of 1473. But the Abbot of Winchcombe’s claim in August 1514 that Wolsey was then under 40 indicates a slightly later alternative. And calculations based upon the date of his ordination in March 1498 offer little further assistance, for if the minimum age of admission into the priesthood was 24, the only certainty is that Wolsey cannot have been born later than 1474.


Nevertheless, some inspired guesses have stood the test of time and two in particular are worthy of special consideration. Writing in 1724, it was Sir Richard Fiddes who first suggested that Wolsey’s Christian name might well be linked to the feast of St Thomas Aquinas on 7 March and this particular notion has always had its fair share of advocates. The year, on the other hand, has often been reckoned at 1471 from the evidence of George Cavendish, a trusted member of the cardinal’s household who would later become his most notable biographer. Neither proposal, therefore, is without a respectable pedigree. But it is not until the two dates are used in combination that their full interest emerges, for if England’s most remarkable statesman really did make his entrance in March 1471 or thereabouts, he could hardly have done so in more inauspicious circumstances.


Only two months earlier a marvellous blazing star, marked by ‘a white flame of fire fervently burning’, was said to have lit up the sky for twelve nights on end, while throughout March itself ‘great storms and tempests from the sea’ raged continually. For some while, too, an outbreak of bubonic plague had been delivering what Sir John Paston considered ‘the most universal death’ he had ever witnessed in England. Most ominously of all, however, this was a time when the peace of the realm was hanging by the slenderest of threads. Little more than a year before, the Earl of Warwick, the ‘Kingmaker’, had changed sides to depose his sovereign, and though Edward IV soon returned in triumph it would require two grim battles, at Barnet and Tewkesbury, not to mention the violent death of Henry VI in the Tower, to restore temporary peace.


Yet, for all its tribulations, this was also a time of rich opportunity for any thrusting individual suitably endowed with an eagle eye for advancement. And Robert Wolsey – who, like his son, would always spell his name ‘Wulcy’ – was, it seems, just such a person. Throughout the fifteenth century, in fact, successive generations of Suffolk Wolseys had fashioned modest livings as butchers, while at Dunwich, Yoxford and Blythburgh the more enterprising of them had also made their way as innkeepers. But despite his sturdily plebeian roots, Thomas Wolsey’s father was not, it seems, inclined to mediocrity and for this reason he moved as a young man to Ipswich from his native village of Combs, near Stowmarket, bent on making good. Furthermore, by the time that Thomas – the first of his four children – was born, he was already combining the roles of butcher, innkeeper and grazier, and, in the process, confidently outstripping his forebears.


Crucially, he had achieved a lucrative marriage to a member of a well-connected East Anglian family that had come over the years to dominate several local villages, and though Joan Daundy was not quite of gentle stock, her dowry was nevertheless a more than handy acquisition. Indeed, a potent combination of her father’s means and her husband’s methods would soon be yielding such solid dividends that by 1475 the Wolseys had moved from the parish of St Mary Elms, where their famous son was born, to the more central location where he was to spend his childhood. By around 1480, moreover, an Ipswich monk named Fetherstone was referring to a local squire called ‘Wolci’ who, besides fattening cattle on his meadow near the town, was also selling wool to the English market in Calais. Indeed, well before his death in the autumn of 1496, ‘Squire’ Wolsey had, it seems, actually acquired sufficient means to retire in comparative comfort.


The rest from his life’s labours was surely welcome, too, for the head of the Wolsey household had striven long and hard to better himself, and suffered his fair share of indignities along the way. As a newcomer to Ipswich, possibly unfamiliar with the tangle of civic ordinances impeding his enterprise and doubtless keen to make his mark in any event, it had not been long before he was making regular appearances before the local magistracy. Arraigned at first for keeping a ‘hospicium’ or inn, where he is said to have sold victuals for excessive gain, he also found himself in court shortly afterwards when he and a Stowmarket butcher by the name of John Wood were accused of selling bad pies.


Although the fines involved were comparatively light, by the time that Thomas was 9 his father was said to be ‘the greatest offender before the leet’. Not only had he gone on to brew ale and sell it in illegal measures, he had also supplied horse feed for excessive profit, permitted his pigs to wander at large within the borough precincts and failed to maintain the guttering in front of his house. Later, he would be indicted yet again: first, for defiling the highway with filth from his stables instead of placing it within the public pits provided for the purpose, and then, as a final flourish, for ‘fostering harlots and adulterers within his house against the king’s peace’.


Despite these scrapes and setbacks, however, Robert Wolsey continued to grow in wealth and came ultimately to be something of a fixture in the community. No doubt, too, the son beheld in his father’s progress signs of what was required by the times, for a bold head and stout heart could, it seems, open many a door. Though he would never manage to become a free burgess of the borough of Ipswich and thereby gain the right to vote, Wolsey senior still served his turn for three years as churchwarden of St Nicholas and acquired further property at St Mary Stoke, along with farmland at Sternfield-by-Farnham, a village some 24 miles away.


Likewise, at his death he was not only able to bequeath funds for a painting of an archangel above the altar of his parish church but also to leave other money to guarantee that masses should be sung for both him and his friends over the space of one whole year. And if his house just down from the Cornhill, past Rosemary Lane and Dog’s Head Street, provided a somewhat modest address for any aspiring bourgeois, at least it stood at the heart of things. Nearby rose the massive church of St Peter and behind that the humbler but still august edifice of Ipswich Grammar School, founded in 1476 by a local mercantile elite which was thriving at that time as never before.


Certainly, the town of Thomas Wolsey’s birth was one where any industrious individual had scope to prosper. Situated 70 miles north-east of London and benefiting from good access to the sea along the Gipping and Orwell rivers, it was a sheltered port, through which thousands of tightly stuffed woolsacks passed continually to the great duchy of Burgundy and the English-held port of Calais. For all of two centuries, in fact, Ipswich merchants had been taking wool, hides, corn and cheese either to Brittany in return for salt, or to the Low Countries from which they returned with finished cloth.


Just as Ipswich had long served as a window on the Continent, so it had also become over many years a magnet for foreign traders and craftsmen – a goodly number of whom would surely have lodged at Robert Wolsey’s premises. In this truly cosmopolitan community, wine merchants from Bordeaux rubbed shoulders with arms traders from Hamburg and dealers in horses’ hides from Cologne. Spanish vessels, too, were regular visitors and the town also boasted its own thriving community of Flemings who had drifted there throughout the fifteenth century, marrying local brides and occupying themselves with industries such as brewing, carving and hat-making.


Predictably, the material benefits accruing from such a bustle of commercial activity had been considerable, particularly since 1404, when Ipswich became one of the few towns in the kingdom permitted to export wool to the Continent. Thereafter, Ipswich merchants had also begun to send their ships on the lucrative ‘long Iceland’ voyage, selling their cargoes of stockfish to London merchants at St Gregory’s Fair in Sudbury, or to the Suffolk gentry. Others made good profits from the canvas trade, and such were the resulting surplus funds available to the host of newly rich burgesses that every one of Ipswich’s churches would be rebuilt during these plentiful years. Indeed, the Perpendicular churches and half-timbered town houses with their ornately carved corner posts, which form such a prominent part of Suffolk’s architectural heritage, still bear ample testimony to a sustained commercial boom that would cause average incomes in the area to rise fourfold during the century.


Meanwhile, as Ipswich continued to hum with commercial activity the town charter, granted by King John on 25 May 1200, further reinforced its robustly independent outlook. Protected from the interference of powerful magnate families, such as the Mowbrays, de la Poles, de Veres and Howards, Ipswich’s 5,000 inhabitants were almost always smugly dismissive of the high politics associated with the Wars of the Roses. Tending mainly to support the Yorkist cause – albeit in a lukewarm manner – through the influence of Sir John Howard, or ‘Jockey of Norfolk’ as he was known, the town gained from Edward IV and Richard III the privileges it prized and quietly ignored the greater tides of national affairs.


Thus, when Edward IV returned from his foreign exile the annals of the town recorded only that a certain Ingell Bolton was fined ‘for nuisance done to the highway at Cole Dunghill, by laying muck therein’. On other occasions, too, while the country at large was being rocked by faction and assassination, we hear in Ipswich mainly of stiff fines for the likes of John Maughteld, a local shoemaker, found guilty of eavesdropping under the paneless windows of the overhanging upper stories of a wealthy merchant’s house. And when news came finally that the murdered corpse of Henry VI had been brought to St Paul’s and ‘bled on the pavement there’, the same report was swift to return to more pressing local concerns, warning earnestly that ‘the town millers are, at their peril, to take no excessive toll’.


It was here, then, in the midst of the pealing bells of Ipswich’s fifteen churches and a whole wide world away from Westminster and its distracted turnings that Thomas Wolsey was reared. Here, as an eldest son, he was schooled, no doubt, in all the finer points of his father’s trades, learning to barter shrewdly at local market stalls, tending to the foreign merchants at the family inn and rinsing the bloodied floor of the shop in St Nicholas Street when required. Here, too, as he grew through boyhood, he will doubtless have learned of human nature at his father’s side and been shaped and moulded in other ways by the rhythms and spectacles of the everyday world around him.


Bordered by the old Buttermarket and the shambles, the hub of town life for the common people of Ipswich and for young Wolsey, too, was the Cornhill. It was the site of regular wheat and cattle markets and the favourite resort of public preachers and travelling showmen. It was also the place where fairs occurred in summer and the hustings were held from time to time. Less happily, it was home to the stocks, the pillory and the bull ring, and occasionally it heaved with crowds who came to witness a bear-baiting or public execution. By and large, offenders were dispatched unceremoniously enough by the hangman’s noose in Ipswich, but for those criminals who refused to plead, there was also the prospect of death by crushing under heavy stones – the so-called punishment of ‘delapidaretur’ or ‘peine forte et dure’.


No local butcher’s son could have failed to know the sights and sounds of the Cornhill anything other than intimately and, like any young boy, Wolsey is certain to have drunk deeply of what he saw and heard there. No less surely, he must also have gained first-hand experience of some of the town’s other idiosyncracies. According to one local ordinance, for instance, it was deemed an offence to sell the flesh of any bull that had not been baited by dogs for at least an hour prior to slaughter. This savage and noisy practice was said to add flavour to the meat, and it provided its share of daily spectacle as well, for if the tormented animal were not dead within the allocated time, it would be finished off in full public view by a butcher.


But if the world of Wolsey’s boyhood was filled with more than its fair share of cruelty, there were also pockets of prayer and contemplation all around him, which were clearly not without their influence either. The Carmelites or ‘White Friars’ lived out their lives of learning and austerity not far from his house, in a priory whose precincts stretched from St Stephen’s Lane and the Buttermarket towards the town jail. Closer still to Wolsey’s home were the mendicant Franciscans, who resided near the western wall of the town, immediately west of the parish church of St Nicholas. Then there were the ‘Black’ or Dominican Friars, who were established in the town by Henry III back in the thirteenth century, as well as the Austin canons whose priors seem to have led the way in organising the town’s many open-air processions.


Ipswich also boasted its very own religious shrine, located in Lady Lane, only a stone’s throw away from where Wolsey lived. Early historical records abound, in fact, with references to the ‘miraculous powers’ and ‘many marvels’ associated with the Shrine of Our Lady of Grace at Ipswich, and make it clear that the Lady Lane chapel was ‘much resorted to by pilgrims’ and ‘second only to Walsingham’ in popularity. Long after Wolsey had left his home town, Sir Thomas More would visit Ipswich and sing the shrine’s praises, observing how he had seen the daughter of Sir Roger Wentworth, a local landowner, freed from demonic possession: ‘her mouth drawn aside, and her eyes laid out upon her cheeks […] a terrible sight to behold’.


This is not to say that Wolsey’s Ipswich was without its lighter side. Indeed, there was an abundance of festivities and local customs to lighten the everyday struggle for survival. On so-called ‘Hockmondays’, for instance, the women of St Nicholas ward would stretch a chain across a chosen street and hold all passing men to ransom. The guild feasts for which Ipswich was well known are certain to have been another highlight of Thomas Wolsey’s childhood. They were a time for remembrance of dead brethren and an occasion, too, for contrition and reflection. But above all, they were a time for public display and junketing on the grandest scale.


On the day of Corpus Christi 1479, for instance, it is hard to believe that Wolsey’s father was not among those walking slowly behind their guild symbols through the town’s crowded streets: the mariners, merchants and brewers following the sign of the ship; the cloth makers, dyers, drapers, mercers and other men of similar trades making their way behind the effigy of the Virgin Mary; and the butchers and tallow chandlers being led, appropriately enough, by a bull. In the feasting that followed, moreover, young Thomas would almost certainly have enjoyed his share of the lamb, veal, goose, pork, chicken, bread, spices and honey supplied, so we are told, to the families of all guild members on that day.


Most spectacular of all, however, were those rarer occasions when a mighty lord would come to visit Ipswich amid brilliant colours, beating drums and blaring fanfares. By and large, the local landed elite kept their distance from the town, preferring to maintain an Olympian detachment on their extensive estates. Nevertheless, occasional displays of might and splendour remained a crucial element of their mystique and on days such as these the butcher’s son may well have caught a fleeting glimpse of the youthful Thomas Howard, his future nemesis. The two were, after all, almost exact contemporaries and Ipswich itself was surrounded by Howard properties, the most notable of which at this time was the manor of Stoke-by-Nayland a dozen miles to the south-west.


But it was Wolsey’s potential as a budding scholar that would eventually lead him, around the age of 11, to abandon the sights and novelties of his Ipswich home once and for all. Precisely when he embarked upon his education and who was responsible for his earliest tuition are both uncertain, although a number of guild chaplains are known to have doubled as grammar masters, and there were certainly independent schoolmasters within the borough to teach the ‘petties’ or little ones the alphabet. In any event, it was at the town’s grammar school that he received his first formal instruction for a fee of eightpence a quarter under the supervision of a headmaster who had, it seems, only been appointed on condition that he arrange the construction of latrines for his pupils’ use. In a house standing beside the gate of the Friars Preachers, then, Wolsey learnt his Latin primers, memorised his psalter and possibly developed his first love of music as a chorister, since the will of the school’s main benefactor, Richard Felaw, had stipulated that the pupils should sing a Mass of Our Lady at six o’clock each morning in the neighbouring Dominican church.


Wolsey’s stay, however, would not be a long one, and though the precise circumstances of his removal are unclear, it seems that he must have shone sufficiently at his studies to come to the attention of James Goldwell, who had been Bishop of Norwich since 1472. Goldwell, a former principal secretary to Edward IV, is known to have taken a keen interest in the grammar school at Ipswich and he is known, too, to have held in his gift four places at Magdalen College School each year. In all likelihood, young Wolsey’s name would have been put forward by John Squyer, Master of the grammar school, and the funds of the Daundy family may also have been enlisted to help with the costs involved. Ever keen to identify and reward scholars of potential, Goldwell was thus persuaded to select the butcher’s son as a likely candidate for study at Oxford.


There can be little doubt either that Wolsey’s father would have fully appreciated the considerable possibilities that admission to the university and eventual entry into the priesthood might open up for his firstborn. The Church, after all, offered a career not only to lowly parsons and curates in every one of England’s parishes, but also to canons in cathedral chapters, to chantry priests singing lucrative private masses for the souls of dead benefactors, and even to the chaplains of the nobility. That a clerical career might eventually make his son one of the most influential figures in Christendom would, however, surely have exceeded even Robert Wolsey’s wildest expectations.


The College of St Mary Magdalen, which had been established twenty-six years earlier, was still being built when its fresh-faced resident from Ipswich arrived there to spend the next eighteen years or so. A small turreted fragment of the college’s school, which was founded in 1479, remains to this day, but apart from a single large room the original building consisted of little more than the chambers of the headmaster and usher, along with a kitchen. It was in this Grammar Hall that Wolsey, along with a handful of timid boys, would have received his first instruction. And though the frequent references in the college accounts to the repair of broken windows suggest that the boys remained a spirited bunch, they were subjected to a rigorous academic diet, which was imposing enough to intimidate even the most avid of young scholars.


The standard curriculum seems to have emphasised the acquisition of a thorough grounding in Latin by means of a steadily ascending progress through Terence, Virgil, Cicero’s letters and the histories of either Sallust or Caesar, up to and including Horace’s epistles and Ovid’s Metamorphoses or Fasti. Ultimately, pupils were then expected to study the science of grammar proper in Donatus or Valla. Yet just how far Thomas Wolsey progressed along this set path is unknown, for shortly after his arrival, presumably as a result of his unusual progress, he was transferred to the college itself, where he began his studies to qualify as a Bachelor of Arts.


The regime awaiting him will have been a particularly austere one. As Bishop of Winchester and Lord Chancellor of England, William Waynflete, the college’s founder, had been a tireless patron of learning who was determined to purge his beloved university of disorderly elements by imposing the rigour and discipline of enclosed community life upon its members. Before the establishment of colleges, the students of Oxford had not been compelled to live in any one place and, in consequence, their dissolute behaviour had become a considerable cause of scandal. Now, however, entry to the university became in effect a species of custodial sentence.


Statutes enacted around the time that Wolsey entered Oxford forbade swearing, games of chance, ‘unhonest garrulities’, being out after eight o’clock in the winter and nine o’clock in the summer and speaking English except on feast days. Likewise, all were required to hear Mass daily and to attend sermons, while clothes were regulated and long hair strictly condemned. Card playing, too, was prohibited and failure to prepare for lessons, as well as playing, laughing or talking in lectures, not to mention lateness or non-attendance at chapel, could lead to corporal punishment at the discretion of the college authorities. Books, meanwhile, were still so valuable that punishments were imposed for leaving them open.


Around a thousand young scholars in all attended the colleges, halls and associated semi-monastic institutions which constituted the university, while at Magdalen itself the student community consisted of some forty postgraduates, thirty undergraduates and another twenty commensales – the sons of noble and powerful friends of the college – who received private tuition. Not surprisingly, living conditions for all but the wealthy handful were rudimentary. Undergraduates were housed two or three to a chamber, with cubicles or ‘studies’ partitioned off for reading, and those, like Wolsey, who were under the age of fifteen were expected to share a bed.


But at least basic board and lodging was cheap. An individual’s room rent, for instance, ran to no more than sixpence a year, and his share of ‘commons’ – the basic food and drink bought each week for members of the hall or college – amounted to less than a penny a day. Moreover, the food on offer was, it seems, wholesome enough. A contemporary described a typical Oxford dinner as a ‘penye pece of byefe amongst iiii, hauying a few porage made of the broth of the same byefe with salte and otemell’. As for other basics, each student provided his own bedding, knives, spoons and candlesticks, along with a lantern, a pair of bellows and a coffer for his books.


Certainly, the teaching Wolsey received will have done much to mould his later reputation for both endurance and intellectual rigour. Consisting of lectures and disputations, the main aim was to encourage an appreciation of semantics, alongside a training in logical analysis and argument. And in the process, no quarter was afforded to clumsy thinking of any kind, while the highest premium was set upon control of detail.


At lectures, masters focused their delivery upon interpretations and glosses on a set text, which were followed by quaestiones, or investigations, into its aspects. Disputations and exercises in oratory, on the other hand, were held on so-called dies disputabilis. A disputation on theology, for instance, was held weekly in the chapel, along with two further debates on logic or moral philosophy in the college’s central hall. On such occasions, before a hushed audience of young scholars, masters and bachelors argued on either side of an interpretation or proposition – usually one proponent and two opponents – until the presiding master gave his determination or final judgement.


Moreover, in the unlikely event that the student from Ipswich did not already appreciate the full meaning of hard work and long hours before his arrival at the college, his Oxford education will soon have rid him of any illusions on that score. The first lecture, which was often conducted ‘in the dark without artificial light’, began at six o’clock in the morning and only the handful of more fortunate students will have faced its three hours’ duration with the benefit of a breakfast beforehand. Then, following dinner at ten o’clock, two further lectures usually occurred from noon onwards, lasting until five o’clock, when supper was served.


Thereafter, Wolsey and his fellows were free to take their pleasure until eight or nine o’clock. Chess and other homemade amusements, such as storytelling and carol singing, were considered suitable, as was the reading of ‘poems, chronicles of the realm, or wonders of the world’; morality plays and pageants, along with comedies by Plautus and Aristophanes were especially encouraged. But the day itself would necessarily have ended with prayers. Before retiring to bed, therefore, all students chanted the Salve Regina or some similar antiphon to the Virgin Mary.


Predictably, such a sternly structured environment sometimes proved intolerable, and punishments, as well as expulsions and banishments, were not infrequent. Indeed, though there is no record of any misdemeanour on Wolsey’s part, it was said that on the roads round about Oxford, gangs of expelled scholars roamed abroad fecklessly, while others, it seems, had even chosen to swap their studies for more lucrative careers as highwaymen. Certainly, it was not unknown for less colourful students to poach in the royal forests at Shotover and Woodstock, and the fact that colleges imposed fines for bringing unsheathed knives to table and doubled them if blood was shed in a brawl says something about the simmering undercurrents that must have existed.


Yet Magdalen was far from being merely the academic gulag it might at first appear. In fact, it had been expressly established for the study of philosophy and divinity, in the hope that it would serve the Church as a bastion against heresy, and in this respect its impact had been impressive. Oxford was, after all, still shadowed by the catastrophic impact of heresy originating with John Wycliffe’s challenge to Roman doctrines half a century earlier. And if its founder had, indeed, intended Magdalen to be frozen in permanent intellectual stasis, he was to be roundly disappointed, for while Wolsey was living and growing there, the college was being thoroughly renewed and energised under the influence of some of the leading exponents of the so-called ‘New Learning’.


Not content with intellectual subservience to tradition and the arid logic-chopping of their medieval predecessors, humanist scholars at Wolsey’s Oxford were busily condemning corruption and obscurantism in the Church. In place of error and superstition, they advocated a thorough purification of doctrine, which could only be achieved, they argued, by studying biblical sources and philosophical texts in their original Greek form. Furthermore, the scale of the subsequent transformation at the university was quite apparent to the celebrated scholar Erasmus when he made his first visit there in either 1497 or 1498. The scholarship on offer was no longer, it seems, ‘of the outworn, commonplace sort’, but of the ‘profound, accurate kind’, and the Dutchman went on to express his genuine amazement at ‘how thickly this standing grain of ancient letters now ripens to harvest’.


Thomas Wolsey’s intellect would therefore be shaped in the midst of a powerful array of cutting-edge thinkers. William Grocyn, for instance – the most venerated of Magdalen’s illuminati – was a reader in divinity there from 1481 to 1488. For two years he had studied at Florence under Demetrius Chalcondylas and Politian, and on his return to Oxford he gave what is likely to have been the first ever set of lectures on the Greek language delivered there. Laconic in his speech and a man of the strictest ascetic habits, his fame rested purely on his lectures, for he never published any of his works. Thomas Linacre, that other great champion of English humanism, was also at Oxford between 1480 and 1485. Having graduated in medicine from the University of Padua, he had spent some further time in Italy as a member of Lorenzo the Magnificent’s ‘academy’ before returning to his homeland, where he eventually taught Thomas More and gave Erasmus his knowledge of Greek.


But these were only two of the outstanding scholars who helped frame Wolsey’s intellectual horizons during his stay at Oxford. John Colet, for instance, probably studied and taught at Magdalen between 1483 and 1493 before making the Italian tour, which had become virtually obligatory for all aspiring scholars. The first Englishman to historicise the gospels, his public lectures on St Paul’s Epistle to the Romans in 1497 represented a seminal contribution to the development of English religious life. Then there was William Lily, a godson of Grocyn, who studied at Magdalen from 1486 to 1490 before being selected by Colet as high master of St Paul’s School after his tour of Jerusalem and the classical shrines of the Latin world. And William Latimer, friend and travelling companion of both Linacre and Grocyn, was yet another contemporary Oxford man rightfully numbered among the leading lights of learning in his time.


Wolsey’s intellect therefore had every opportunity to grow and ripen in a near-perfect climate as he received at first hand the fresh wisdom that was blowing through every portico of his current home. No doubt, too, he will have absorbed in full the urbanity as well as the affectation that came with academic status. And this was by no means all that the boy from Ipswich was likely to have absorbed during these years, for he also began, on occasion, to witness at close quarters a new world of power and display that would ultimately prove utterly intoxicating to him. In July 1483, for instance, no less a figure than the newly crowned Richard III visited Oxford on a royal progress and, in accordance with its statutes, Magdalen College duly entertained him and became his temporary residence. Halls were cleared and extra food laid in, and the most prestigious scholars were duly paraded to engage in solemn disputations on moral philosophy and divinity.


Such was Thomas Wolsey’s very first introduction to a stirring mixture of worlds. On the one hand there was the weighty realm of scholarship and philosophy; on the other, the glittering sphere of pomp and politics. To those, like Grocyn, who made their mark by the glibness of their tongues, King Richard bestowed his benevolences liberally. But for Wolsey there would eventually be little doubt where primacy lay in the greater scheme of things. While scholars might hold sway within the narrow confines of Magdalen, there was nevertheless a wider, more enticing world outside, far beyond their grasp and altogether more substantial than their arid quibblings.


Before Thomas Wolsey could come to dominate either, however, he would have to obtain his degree and by the tender age of 15 he appears to have done precisely that. Moreover, if George Cavendish recorded this singular achievement correctly, it was indeed ‘a rare thing and seldom seen’, for the examination which led to the award of a bachelor’s degree was both elaborate and exacting. Under the supervision of a Master of Arts, Wolsey was made to stand before a desk for at least seven days between nine o’clock and twelve in the morning and from one o’clock until five in the afternoon. His task, quite simply, was to defend a formidable range of propositions against all comers, impressing observers and holding firm against each and every challenge.


It was an arrangement that encouraged both ostentation of mind and extreme resourcefulness, and the training it involved will certainly have played a major part in helping to hone Wolsey’s so-called ‘filed tongue’. Nor should it be forgotten that the whole process was conducted under conditions of extreme pressure, for unless he became a Bachelor of Arts in this way, Wolsey would need an extra year beyond the standard seven to gain a Master of Arts degree. Conversely, if he did well in his examination, he might himself attract students for his future lectures or catch the notice of wealthy patrons.


That a 15-year-old would come through such an exacting challenge says much about his talent and precocity. But it also raises tantalising questions about the possible impact of such newfound celebrity upon his self-image and ambitions. Although Wolsey would always enjoy the company of learned men and in later life became a generous patron of education in his own right, it would be misleading to depict him as a truly outstanding scholar. Nevertheless, he would now be known to all as the ‘boy bachelor’. Furthermore, the degree brought to the lad who achieved it a good deal more personal liberty than might have been accorded to his peers, as well as certain privileges.


Henceforth the poorer students, known as ‘battelers’, who were required to wait on others before sitting down to table themselves, would tend his needs assiduously. He might also don distinctive livery and sport stylish fur-trimmed cloaks in preference to the plain clerical garb of undergraduates. All in all, then, the accolade bestowed on a callow 15-year-old after such an arduous test of wits served to single him out very visibly from his peers and lifted him to special heights within the college community as a whole. Here, it already seemed, was a student who might well come to occupy a lofty place in the counsels of the mighty.


Curiously, however, for the next eleven years or so until the day in 1497 when his name came to adorn the college rolls once more, the record of Thomas Wolsey’s activities and achievements is largely a blank sheet. There is no suggestion of his returning to Ipswich even once, nor any record of his continuing study abroad at Paris, Padua, or any other European university for that matter. Nor is there the slightest hint that he gained temporary employment as a member of some great household, lay or ecclesiastical, though this may not have been for want of trying, since useful contacts for a butcher’s son from Ipswich were hardly likely to have been easy to come by.


Yet clearly at some point during this period he gained his Master of Arts degree – possibly in as little as two years, according to some authorities. It is also highly likely that he specialised in divinity rather than law, however odd that may seem for someone destined to become Lord Chancellor of England. Clearly, a grounding in divinity would have fitted him for a career within the highest ranks of the Church and would also help explain his close familiarity with the writings of Thomas Aquinas and the other scholastic philosophers whose books he would later encourage Henry VIII to read. But whatever his chosen specialism, the qualification itself was the key consideration for its owner, since it carried with it the stamp of genuine authority, along with all the accompanying dignities.


It might well seem, then, that while the Battle of Bosworth was being won and thereafter while Henry Tudor was consolidating his grip on the crown, Thomas Wolsey had simply locked himself away at Oxford and set his sights firmly on a life of scholarship and teaching. It was certainly George Cavendish’s belief that Wolsey spent these years ‘prospering and increasing in learning’, and there was also no denying that the degree of Master of Arts at Oxford – with the comprehensive grounding it provided in grammar, rhetoric, logic, arithmetic, music, astronomy and geometry – rendered its holders well suited to all kinds of teaching opportunities. Indeed, it was a university requirement that any scholar of this rank should offer to tutor others.


Yet if some, like Wycliffe, considered Oxford ‘the Vineyard of the Lord for its learning and its beauty’ – ‘a place, gladsome and fertile, suitable for a habitation of the Gods’ – it was patently too sterile and hidebound to hold the likes of Thomas Wolsey indefinitely. Academic distinction was one thing, a lifetime of largely anonymous scholarship altogether another, and it was no coincidence that the young man from Ipswich seems to have made no effort to gain a doctorate or even to become a Bachelor of Divinity, both of which would have been crucial qualifications for an academic career.


Nevertheless, any appearance of mere hibernation during this period is deceptive. In a Liber Nominum, or dinner-book, of 1497 Wolsey is recorded as a Master of Arts and fourteenth on the list of fellows, and the success which this indicates leaves no doubt that he had been both busy and successful throughout his years of anonymity. He had clearly consolidated his earlier academic reputation and been of exemplary character, too, for the slightest hint of incontinence would almost certainly have barred him from election. And we can also surmise that since there are the names of five other fellows on the list after his, he is likely to have been elected to his new role one or two years previously, making him perhaps no more than 24 at the time of his promotion.


But this was not the only advance that Wolsey made during these years. By the autumn of 1498, for instance, he had also served as master of Magdalen College School, succeeding Andrew Scarbott, strongly suggesting that he had indeed already accumulated some other teaching experience. And though, according to the so-called ‘Liber Computi’, he seems to have held this particular post for only six months, there is nothing whatsover to suggest that his record was anything other than commendable. Indeed, the same register also mentions him holding the position of third bursar around this time – a post which made him one of the treasurers and managers of Magdalen’s property and gave him his first significant grounding in administration.


It appears, then, that Wolsey had been steadily distinguishing himself as a talented and earnest member of his college community, and there is every indication that, with continued dedication and laborious clean-living, further gradual advancement would have been his for the taking. Yet the self-made man who had helped him on his way to Oxford did not live to witness his son’s most recent progress. Robert Wolsey had made his will on 30 September 1496 and died only a few days later.


Not altogether surprisingly, the death of Wolsey’s father seems to have had little obvious impact on his own life. The two men’s worlds had, after all, long since parted company and if the usual rules applied, neither is likely to have experienced much ease in the other’s presence, if indeed their paths had ever crossed at all in the immediately preceding years. For the older Wolsey, his refined and eloquent son had almost certainly become a figure of increasing incomprehension as the years unfolded. He may also, for that matter, have eventually become a source of some mild vexation, since he had failed to take holy orders at the earliest opportunity and was therefore failing to offer a speedy return on the already considerable investment expended on him. For the son, on the other hand, his father was firmly planted in a way of life and outlook that he himself had long since superseded.


Whether there was any outright resentment is anyone’s guess, but the will that Robert Wolsey left might possibly bear such an interpretation. The son was duly appointed an executor, along with a man named Cade, but while there were several bequests to church charities, he himself received no legacy other than his father’s freehold land to which he was, in any case, automatically entitled by law. And at a time when any extra financial assistance would almost certainly have been most welcome, the absence of any other bequest to the eldest son is, at least odd. All other property was bequeathed to Thomas’s mother Joan, who soon afterwards married a certain William Patient.


Equally curious in its way is the stipulation that if Thomas were to become a priest within a year, he was to receive the sum of ten marks for singing Masses for his dead father’s soul over the next twelve months. If, however, the young man had not by then taken holy orders as required, it was also laid down that some other priest should receive the fee. Why such a potentially niggling incentive should have been employed is hard to explain unless Thomas was for some reason dragging his feet in a way that may have exasperated his father. And the fact that he still failed to enter the priesthood within the period specified reinforces this suspicion.


In the event, it was not until 10 March 1498 that Wolsey was finally ordained at the church of St Peter in Marlborough by the Bishop of Sarum’s suffragan; the entry on folio 113 of the bishop’s register is the earliest precise date for any event in Wolsey’s career. But if the man whose name is synonymous with meteoric rises and honours in abundance was expecting early windfalls from his ordination, he was to be at least temporarily frustrated, for one full year after his ordination he was still without a benefice of any kind. Furthermore, when the time eventually came he was appointed only to the very subordinate position of rural dean in the diocese of Norwich.


Even so, it was not long before Wolsey’s own university provided him with recognition of a much more substantial kind when he was appointed senior bursar, a post which he would hold from 29 September 1499 to the same date of the following year. He had obviously been a success in his earlier role as third bursar and the administrative skill which would become his trademark was clearly expected to prove invaluable at a time when Magdalen College was involved in extensive building operations. The construction of the college’s new tower was by any standards a particularly ambitious project, and though it had been progressing steadily under the direction of the great Oxford mason, William Orchard, Wolsey was now entrusted to expedite matters, which he duly did, albeit in a manner that would lead to his prompt dismissal.


Tradition has it that Wolsey was removed from his new post after exceeding his authority and misallocating funds to speed the tower’s construction. In his favour, there is no hint that he had sought any personal gain and he appears, strictly speaking, to have been not so much sacked as reassigned, for at the time of his removal in 1500 he was offered the post of dean of divinity. Yet even if Wolsey’s dismissal has sometimes been wrongly exploited by his detractors to confirm his dishonesty, the story itself does have a distinct ring of truth about it, not least of all because extravagant building projects would remain one of his lifelong passions. Much more significantly still, however, the whole unfortunate incident reflects two other enduring tendencies on Wolsey’s part: firstly, an ongoing preparedness to take on tasks that intimidated others, and secondly an unerring willingness to take irregular shortcuts to get things done.


Nor should the impact of this first reverse be minimised, since Wolsey was at that crucial stage when defining decisions had to be made about the overall direction of his life. And however venial the offence, a shadow had been cast not only over his methods but, to a lesser degree, his integrity too. Doubtless, his pride will have been wounded – possibly grievously – and for a man like Wolsey that may well have been too much to take, especially if there were other options on offer. Was not the response of the authorities to his ‘creativity’ therefore final proof that the time had finally come for him to move on to new and better things?
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The Wide Ocean of Opportunity


In the midwinter of 1499 spring came unexpectedly, it seems, for Thomas Wolsey. Until comparatively recently the privileged sons of England’s elite had usually been spared the soggy tedium and vexations of university life; as long as they had mastered the intricacies of courtly manners and were skilled in sport and war, their fathers invariably considered them more than adequately prepared for the narrow world of power and privilege in which they were to move. Indeed, the bristling contempt for study and contemplation so prevalent among many men of high rank was vividly captured by one contemporary scholar who recorded with resignation how he had heard a certain gentleman proudly airing his scorn for the written word. ‘By the body of God,’ the man is said to have declared, ‘I would sooner have my son be hanged than a bookworm. It is a gentleman’s calling to be able to blow the horn, to hunt and to hawk. He should leave learning to the clodhoppers.’


Change was in the air, however, and for three of the seven sons of Thomas Grey, first Marquess of Dorset, things would be very different. All had been sent to Oxford to acquire precisely that subtlety of mind which others of their class were still so ready to despise. Nor did their arrival within Magdalen’s high stone walls go unnoticed by the masters immured with them: no ambitious teacher, after all, could fail to realise that a marquess stood only below a duke and the king himself in terms of rank. The opportunities for preferment and patronage that might suddenly open up, if the right services were rendered and the proper signals sent, were plain for all to see.


On this occasion, however, the good fortune on offer was to be all Thomas Wolsey’s, since the three young Greys had been given over wholly to his personal care and tuition. Faced with what he surely now considered the tepid possibilities of academic life and soon to be embarrassed by his falling short as college bursar, opportunity had therefore knocked loudly for the newly fledged schoolmaster and was not to be lightly ignored.


None could deny that the Marquess of Dorset was a well-known figure at court who boasted considerable influence in the country at large. Not only was he widely regarded as ‘a good and prudent man’, but as Elizabeth Woodville’s son he was also the half-brother of Henry VII’s queen, Elizabeth of York. Moreover, as a stepson of Edward IV he had fought alongside the king at Tewkesbury and received his current title four years later.


There had, it is true, once been venomous rumours about his loyalty at the time of Lambert Simnel’s treason, but his rehabilitation had since been complete and from that time forth he had received various tokens of royal confidence. He had been present, for instance, at the christening of Prince Arthur, the heir to the throne, and in 1492 he had taken part in a difficult expedition to extricate the Holy Roman Emperor Maximilian from a fruitless campaign against the French. At home, too, he had been busily loyal, serving in the forces assembled by Henry VII in 1497 to quell an ominous rebellion fomented by the men of Cornwall. For some time, then, his reputation had been high and he now enjoyed the firmest confidence the king could repose in him – a royal commission to have troops under his personal command.


But, as the marquess well knew, loyalty and courage were only two of three essential qualities required of a worthy lord. Generosity was also a crucial hallmark of true nobility, and this was the best of news for Thomas Wolsey, for now his efforts on his students’ behalf were to be fittingly rewarded. He had, we are told, attended his three noble charges so dutifully and exercised such diligent care in all respects that at the start of the Christmas vacation of 1499 he received an invitation from the marquess to accompany his pupils on their journey back to Bradgate Park, 7 miles to the west of Leicester.


The passage from Oxford to the Grey country seat involved a round trip of more than 100 miles and the presence of the tutor was therefore of considerable reassurance to the father. But if it was a comfort to the marquess, it would prove nothing less than a heavenly deliverance to Wolsey himself, for here, it seemed, was the perfect chance to pose and profit. By now he was a more than becoming young man – hearty, eloquent and personable – for whom the great house at Bradwell Park might well prove the gateway to greater things. And in spite of first appearances to the contrary, the opportunity which was about to come his way would ultimately have undreamt-of consequences.


Some 150 miles away in Somerset lay the parish church of Limington, near Ilchester, the income and profits of which were in the gift of Wolsey’s host. To all intents and purposes, such a parish was typical of the kind that slowly consumed the energies of so many packhorse priests throughout England at this time, and until his recent death it had been a certain John Borde who tended the simple needs of his flock there. When not preaching and administering the sacraments, it was Borde who taught local children and adults alike the Lord’s Prayer and Hail Mary, as well as the Ten Commandments. It was he, too, who ensured that common folk knew how to cross themselves appropriately and comport themselves with due reverence at Mass. There were baptisms for him to conduct, petty confessions to hear and trifling wills to write, while the government in its turn would have expected him from time to time to read out bulletins from his pulpit. And then, of course, there were the more practical chores of everyday survival for Borde to attend to; chores which involved, among other things, the farming of his so-called ‘glebe’, as well as the many tasks associated with the everyday upkeep of his humble parson’s dwelling.


With all its remoteness and inconveniences, not to mention the wearisome routine of its parish life, the church of St Mary at Limington was therefore hardly the most attractive of destinations, especially for a fellow of Magdalen who was currently serving as college bursar and would soon turn down the opportunity to become dean of divinity there. A thirteenth-century construction of sturdy stone with a nave measuring 87ft by 24ft and a chantry on its north side, St Mary’s remains to this day a handsome enough edifice, possessing to the west a perpendicular tower with six bells which continues to impress as a miniature imitation of something vast. But, in spite of the building’s brave attempt to proclaim itself, the more humdrum truth could not be altogether obscured.


Even as a first appointment, and taking into account the importance of the benefactor who controlled it, this would remain an unlikely outpost for anyone of real ambition. Yet, however humble the living it might have offered, Limington was a living all the same and one, moreover, which now presented both freedom and opportunity to the newly liberated tutor from Oxford. When, therefore, the Marquess of Dorset offered Wolsey this quiet parish in a remote part of the kingdom – ‘in reward for his diligence’ – he did not hesitate to accept. And, as always, he would prove more than capable of squeezing advantage from the most unlikely of circumstances.


It was, in any case, a good time to be gone from Magdalen, and not simply because Wolsey’s term as senior bursar was about to end unhappily. He had already defended the president of the college, Richard Mayhew, when his leadership was called into question, and he had also taken the president’s side against detractors in a dispute between the colleges of Magdalen and Merton over the ownership of a mill. But Mayhew’s administration had nevertheless ended in disorder and confusion. There had been other internal controversies involving charges and counter-charges, and it was in the midst of the petty sniping and bickering which now consumed the place that Wolsey was finally accused of improperly diverting funds to the completion of the college’s new tower.


Worse still, these troubles marked only the beginning of Magdalen’s steady descent into acrimony and disrepute. Indeed, when the college was formally inspected in 1507, a number of its members were rebuked and told to reform, while others suffered penalties for various breaches of statutes, including sleeping in chapel, keeping ferrets and perjury. On the other hand, more serious complaints against members included charges of adultery and receiving stolen goods, and in one case a charge of concealing a thief was also successfully upheld. Another member, meanwhile, was charged with baptising a cat in order to discover by occult means the whereabouts of a treasure. In all likelihood, then, Wolsey had read the writing on the wall long before this and was more than ready for a fleeting sojourn in far-off Somerset before the call to better things arrived.


Besides which, if the new rector of Limington did not care to minister to his bumpkin flock, there would be ample opportunity for him to employ a vicar or curate to perform his duties. Absentee rectors, no less than absentee bishops, were commonplace at this time; indeed, such arrangements had become almost the norm in most outlying parishes of the day. A wretched stand-in could usually be employed for a modest sum of around £5 per year and might even be persuaded to swear that he would not ask for a larger stipend during his tenure. So although the church of St Mary at which Thomas Wolsey was duly instituted on 10 October 1500 still houses a plaque proudly displaying his name as rector there until 1509, it seems that for at least eight of those years he came nowhere near the place. Indeed, in little more than a twelvemonth he had gone, leaving his cipher on the panels of the parish pews and his initials on some parsonage windows, which remained intact until the eighteenth century.


But within that time he had once again pushed his luck, it seems, and according to tradition paid a price far more galling than the one he had already incurred at his old college. Quite apart from the mediocrity of his everyday routine, the parish priest of a backwater parish like Limington also had other more worrying things to press upon his mind, for although the Roman Catholic Church was still a massive institution claiming universal sway, the reality in such far-flung outposts was altogether different, and vulnerable, exposed priests might not always be treated with anything like due deference. On the contrary, most parishes were corporations in which clergy had to be ever-mindful of secular patrons and local bigwigs of all kinds. In theory at least, no lords of the manor or political personages were intended to hold any power or authority over the serving priest. But in times of change and in specific situations, long-honoured principles were sometimes subject to challenge and though mighty prelates were still, for the time being at least, secure enough in their palaces, assaults like the one now made on Wolsey by Sir Amyas Paulet in 1501 were by no means unheard of.


Paulet was a knight and local worthy who lived 10 miles from Limington at Hinton St George. He had been a Lancastrian in the intermittent Wars of the Roses, and after Buckingham’s rebellion at the beginning of the reign of Richard III he had been attainted by his Yorkist foes. After the triumph of Henry Tudor at the Battle of Bosworth, however, he had been duly rewarded for his support by being appointed sheriff of both Dorset and Somerset – an area of personal suzerainty that should have been adequate even for a man of his bristling temperament. But Paulet’s star was still rising, it seems, for after the Battle of Stoke Field he had been knighted.


At the same time, the scope of his operations was also beginning to expand as the king, with an ever-peeled eye for easy income, looked for willing henchmen to levy fines upon those who had dared espouse the cause of Perkin Warbeck, pretender to the throne. Revenues gained from Somerset and the four adjoining counties equalled an amount sufficient to run the royal household for well over a year, and those who might yield moneys for their transgressions in the Warbeck affair were therefore ruthlessly hunted down by the king’s collectors. Foremost among those prowling the country and ferreting out fines – sometimes by rough means – had been Sir Amyas Paulet.


Not altogether surprisingly, the arrival of pastor Wolsey in a local parish – fresh from Oxford and the protégé of a marquess – will have attracted the attention of this puffed-up, nosy knight soon enough. But what is supposed to have followed in the summer of 1501 was truly extraordinary, since, according to George Cavendish, Paulet ‘took an occasion of displeasure’ against Wolsey and ‘was so bold to set the schoolmaster by the feet during his pleasure’. In other words, the future Lord Chancellor of England apparently suffered the indignity of being confined in the stocks at Paulet’s behest.


Naturally enough, in the reign of Elizabeth I, Wolsey’s detractors made much of this alleged incident. Sir John Harrington, for instance, would claim that Wolsey had been involved a drunken fray and paid the price accordingly. Yet from all we know of the man – his intense application, not to mention his desire to stand well with those in positions of power – such a tale does not ring altogether true. Not least, it seems highly unlikely that Wolsey would have compromised himself in this way within only a few months of obtaining the favour of so influential a patron as the Marquess of Dorset. Furthermore, at no time before or after this event was the charge of drunkenness ever brought against him, even by the bitterest contemporary critics.


Nor is another explanation, originating with Sir Roger Wilbrahim, Master of Requests to Queen Elizabeth, much more convincing. Writing some eighty years after the event, Wilbrahim would claim that Wolsey was punished for fornication. But although this particular story is not altogether implausible, a courtier of Anne Boleyn’s daughter like Wilbrahim was hardly more likely than Harrington to advance a wholly disinterested explanation. In any event, it would have been most unusual and irregular for a parish rector to be placed in the stocks for this or any other offence – and particularly at the order of some secular authority. The rural dean of Bath and Wells, it should be remembered, had full authority to refer all clerical misdemeanours to the bishop’s consistory court. Equally significantly, Wolsey’s numerous enemies once again made no attempt to produce the charge against him while he was alive. Later on, indeed, even John Skelton, his most scathing of detractors, made no mention of it whatsoever in any of his foul-mouthed tirades.


There is certainly much about the whole episode that is, at the very least, both mysterious and surprising. The stocks were regularly used as a punishment for members of the lower classes who had committed some comparatively minor misdemeanour not sufficiently serious to warrant a prison sentence. By 1501, however, Wolsey was no longer ‘a poor scholar of base condition’, but a person of some substance in his own right who enjoyed the patronage of the queen’s half-brother, and the marquess himself could hardly have overlooked the matter if Wolsey had actually been punished in the way described. There can be little doubt either that Dorset would surely have heard about the incident from Paulet or from Wolsey himself, if it had indeed occurred, and thereafter he would have had no choice but to take the part of one or other. The result could only have been disgrace for Wolsey, or the kind of almighty clash between powerful personages that was unlikely to have gone entirely unrecorded in the way it did.


So where does the truth lie? It needs to be remembered, above all, that although Cavendish states on several occasions how incidents reported by him were told by Wolsey himself, he makes no such claim on this occasion. On the contrary, the story may well have been gleaned from idle gossip current in Wolsey’s own household, to which Cavendish, as gentleman usher, would doubtless have been privy.


Yet there is still no reason to disbelieve that an incident of some sort may indeed have occurred back in Somerset and that both its causes and consequences are likely to have been of genuine significance. From the scanty evidence available, we can only infer that Wolsey, with characteristic independence and self-assertiveness, had in some way or other raised the hackles of a notoriously touchy and pompous local magnate, resulting possibly in a threat from Paulet to place his enemy in the stocks. Years later, members of Wolsey’s household – well acquainted with his haughty manner, his mistress and his bastards – may then have seen fit to embroider the story with a trumped-up tale of their low-born master’s final comeuppance.


However, even if Wolsey’s discomfiture did not extend as far as outright public ridicule, the clash itself may well have confirmed him once and for all in his lifelong belief that the secular authorities should not be allowed to over-assert themselves in their dealings with the clergy. They must be met head-on and faced down strenuously, if need be. Nor was the victim prepared to turn the other cheek even in the long term, it seems, for years later, with one of those delectable ironies that life sometimes produces, he would gain and take his opportunity to be avenged.


In 1515, while Lord Chancellor, Wolsey is said to have sent for Paulet ‘and after many sharp and heinous words enjoined him to attend upon the Council until he were by them dismissed, and not to depart without license upon urgent pain and forfeiture’. In all fairness to Wolsey he was far too prudent to stir up muddy waters, if he had, indeed, been guilty of some shameful misdemeanour or other back in 1501. But by this time Paulet had nevertheless become treasurer of the Middle Temple at the Inns of Court and was thus wholly at the Lord Chancellor’s mercy.


According to Cavendish, therefore, Wolsey coolly confined his former adversary to the Inn over some five or more years during which time Paulet was said to have been so chastened that he saw fit to supervise the building of a splendid gatehouse there – duly adorned with Wolsey’s arms and cognisances – in hope of forgiveness. ‘Now may this be,’ wrote Cavendish, ‘a good example and precedent to men in authority, who will sometimes work their will without wit, to remember in their authority how authority may decay.’ ‘Who would have thought,’ he added, ‘that when Amyas Paulet punished this poor scholar, that ever he should have attained to be Chancellor of England, considering his baseness in every condition?’ Who indeed? And who would have thought, too, that Wolsey’s memory of old scores might have stretched so far and lead ultimately to such flagrant abuse of his authority?


For the time being, however, if the incident back in Limington had jarred Wolsey, it by no means checked the momentum of his rise. Preparing the way for what would eventually become a flood of extra benefices, he had already applied for the necessary papal dispensation, which was duly granted on 3 November 1500. Moreover, Wolsey had been making a string of additional contacts through the Marquess of Dorset, and when the marquess died in September 1501 what might have been a blow to the priest’s hopes proved nothing of the kind, for very soon afterwards he was appointed as one of two chaplains to Henry Deane, the new Archbishop of Canterbury – a post of much influence and a definite stepping-stone for any man of genuine promise. The clear implication is that Limington’s new rector was already thinking far beyond his parish’s limited horizons from the moment he arrived there.


Archbishop Deane, for his part, enjoyed a solid reputation as a man of clear principles and firm loyalties, although he was without flair and rarely, if ever, asserted himself. Descended apparently from the ancient family of Dene in the Forest of Dean, he had been a reforming prior of the house of Austin canons at Llanthony Abbey near Gloucester until Henry VII had sent him to Ireland as deputy governor, providing him with the modest revenues of the see of Bangor between 1496 and 1500. And here, to his credit, he had embarked on the refurbishment of the cathedral and restitution of a diocese which had lain devastated for the greater part of a century since the rising of Owain Glyn Dŵr.


Thereafter, in the last year of the century, he had been translated to the diocese of Salisbury, only to be appointed Archbishop of Canterbury almost at once as Cardinal Morton’s successor. But he was never officially installed, either for lack of funds to meet the huge expense involved or because he wished to save his money for what he took to be his impending demise. He was, after all, around 70 years of age by this time and had grown infirm during his long period of service to the Crown. Indeed, he had already prepared minute directions for his funeral, intending, it seems, that it should be the biggest event of his life.


Yet if Canterbury held little attraction for Deane, it was most definitely a glimpse of the Promised Land for his new chaplain. Administratively, Canterbury held sixteen dioceses under its control, while the junior archiepiscopal province of York contained only three: York, Durham and Carlisle. And, as if this was not enough to confirm the gulf in status between the two archbishoprics, it had long been established by custom that the man appointed primate of all England should also serve ex officio as Lord Chancellor and Keeper of the Great Seal, thereby embodying the key offices of both Church and State. Any individual serving on the staff of such a man would therefore have every chance to observe at close hand the methods by which the crucial business of the kingdom was conducted. And if his mind were sufficiently alert and open, he might well become an apprentice to power in his own right.


For the eighteen months of Deane’s tenure, then, Thomas Wolsey resided at Lambeth Palace and soaked up the full authority of the great institutions of the day. It was during Wolsey’s stay at Lambeth, for instance, that the archbishop entertained Catherine of Aragon on her way to London after her stormy passage from Spain to marry Prince Arthur. And it was Henry Deane, too, who conducted the marriage ceremony of Catherine and Arthur in November 1501. Henceforth, whenever grand ceremonial was called for Wolsey would be in close attendance and he would also have his first taste of weightier political affairs, accompanying the archbishop to Edinburgh, for instance, in order to negotiate the Treaty of Perpetual Peace with Scotland, which resulted in the marriage of Princess Margaret and James IV.


No less importantly, Wolsey could now savour to his heart’s content the full pomp and glory that made Canterbury so much more than a mere administrative centre within the English Church. Not least of all, the cathedral boasted one of the great sights and wonders of the Christian world. The tomb of St Thomas Becket, said one Italian visitor, ‘notwithstanding its great size, is entirely covered with plates of pure gold’, and the same awe-struck witness noted, too, that ‘the gold is scarcely visible from the variety of precious stones with which it was studded’. ‘These beauties of nature,’ he concluded, ‘are enhanced by human skill, for the gold is carved and engraved in beautiful designs …’


Nor was such extravagance misplaced, since Becket was England’s most revered saint – one in whose life and death the whole drama of Church–State rivalry had been played out in most spectacular fashion. Indeed, it is no exaggeration to say that in the martyrdom and canonisation of Thomas Becket the ultimate pre-eminence of the clergy had never been embodied more emphatically. And when pilgrims made their slow and tortuous journey to Canterbury in their thousands, they were reminded continually of the transcendent authority of any prelate backed by the moral power of the Church. By the same token, no clergyman seeking high state office would ever find a fitter subject for solemn reflection.


But wherever Wolsey was concerned, events always seemed to move too fast for lengthy contemplation of any kind and in February 1503 the old archbishop died, only one week after the king’s wife, Elizabeth of York, had also breathed her last. Once again, however, what might have seemed a serious setback would prove to be another rich opportunity for advancement. Indeed, even the funeral itself was turned to good advantage by the man who would so often refashion adverse circumstances to suit his own ends.


Having been appointed one of Deane’s executors, Wolsey now served as chief mourner and duly helped to carry out the elaborate instructions for his master’s final journey. In fact £500 had been laid aside in anticipation by the deceased archbishop, who had even written a play to commemorate his own passing. With no trouble spared, it was arranged that the body be carried by water from Lambeth to Faversham by thirty sailors, all dressed in black, and then taken on a hearse to Canterbury to be buried with great pomp in the cathedral. Following hard upon the queen’s funeral, this particular send-off therefore called for surpassing skill in management and the fact that Wolsey executed all with such solemnity and pomp could not have gone unnoticed in high places.


By the time that Archbishop Deane was snugly interred, therefore, his favourite chaplain had already secured another valuable position. And any claim that Thomas Wolsey’s next appointment represented some kind of downgrading in his status could not be more misleading. He had already seen both Church and State in operation at close hand and now it made perfect sense to gain a grasp of business and diplomacy. As such, his appointment to the staff of Sir Richard Nanfan, Deputy Lieutenant of Calais, was merely one more remarkable opportunity. Indeed, it represented nothing less than the finishing touch in his preparation for royal service.


The Deputy of Calais had always served, in effect, as the gatekeeper to the kingdom of England from the time that Edward III had wrested the old town and harbour from the French following the Battle of Crécy in 1346. Having besieged the town for eleven months, the English had swiftly expelled the native French inhabitants, and though by 1503 foreigners – especially Flemish traders – were once again numerous, a high proportion of the town’s population of 1,200 was still descended from the first settlers of a century and a half ago. Now, moreover, the English were as determined as ever to hold the place at any cost. ‘When shall the Frenchman Calais win?’ ran the inscription above one of the town’s gates. ‘When iron and lead like cork will swim’, the same inscription concluded stridently.


Calais was at the hub of English affairs, both commercially and diplomatically, as well as militarily. Known as ‘the brightest jewel in the English crown’, it was the portal to the Netherlands and the rest of Europe for England’s tin, lead, cloth and wool trades, and its customs revenue alone amounted to no less than a third of the English government’s income. Not surprisingly, therefore, it was duly represented in Parliament and also formed part of the diocese of Canterbury, a fact which may explain Wolsey’s transfer there upon the death of Archbishop Deane. Furthermore, since 1453 it was the only territory in France which was still in English hands and its continued possession by English kings was a crucial justification for their claim to the title ‘King of France’.


Stretching along the coast for about 25 miles and inland for some six, the so-called ‘Pale of Calais’ encompassed the fortress of Guisnes on the French border, along with a number of scattered villages. To the south and west, meanwhile, it was surrounded by France, and in the east by the Holy Roman Emperor’s territories in the Netherlands, which extended as far as the imperial border towns of Gravelines and St Omer. There was also a permanent military garrison, both in the town of Calais itself and in Guisnes, and there was frequently tension with the rival French garrison in Ardres just across the border. Most significantly of all, however, every local government body within the Pale of Calais was subordinated to the King’s Deputy – a fact which would now offer limitless opportunities for Wolsey.


No matter was so minor that it could be allowed to escape official attention. But, in the words of Cavendish, Sir Richard Nanfan soon appears, on account of his ‘great age’, to have ‘committed all the charge of his office’ to his assistant, while he himself spent more and more time at home on his Worcestershire estates. This meant that in his superior’s absence Wolsey would now be called upon to assume every aspect of the deputy’s duties, however grave or trivial. On the one hand, he might well find himself arranging for nothing more than the transfer of two prime stags under diplomatic privilege, if the Archduke of Austria had them to spare for one of the King of England’s hunting parks. Very frequently, too, there were routine complaints to be heard about tolls levied by imperial officials at Gravelines on all boats passing between Calais and Flanders. But he might also be called upon to assist the transit of English, French, Spanish and imperial ambassadors, or to supervise any one of a host of other crucial activities or events.


Meanwhile, Wolsey was expected to monitor daily reports from the various keepers of lodging houses about the number and type of guests being accommodated, along with the continual flow of information about seditious utterances within the town’s confines. Likewise, details about the condition of the nearby French garrisons were continually processed, alongside information from English spies further afield in France or operating in Flanders. Yet his most pressing task was to examine further daily reports on the state of the town’s defences. A fort possessing sluice gates to the sea, which allowed for flooding of the surrounding countryside in the event of French attack, commanded the only road by which Calais could be approached from the south and south-west. And not surprisingly, the maintenance of this fort occupied a special place in the deputy’s attention, as did control of the keys of Calais’ mighty gates. Each night the keys were received by him and handed over to the night porter, who was told the number of gates to be opened in the morning.


All this, however, was still only part of the workload involved. The king’s government in London had, for example, to be reminded constantly of the need to make money available in Calais to pay the soldiers’ wages. And when the harvests in England were bad, it was up to the deputy lieutenant to ensure that food supplies were sufficient for the town’s garrison and civilian population. In the meantime, the merchants who operated the wool trade had to be pressed to pay their customs dues, and twice a year in May and November the Deputy of Calais received the instalments, amounting to some 25,000 francs, on the king’s pensions from France.


The four years that Wolsey spent in such a hive of bureaucratic activity between 1503 and 1507 therefore gave him the ideal opportunity to learn about each and every aspect of government administration. But Calais was more than a training ground, since it also gave Wolsey the perfect platform to parade his efficiency. Now, indeed, he found himself in his natural element: recording, intervening, easing, cajoling and making himself invaluable all the while to the ageing Sir Richard Nanfan, who as early as 1505 was making ready to leave his exacting post and return to England, ‘intending to live more at quiet’.


Even so, it was not until January 1507 that Nanfan was finally released from his labours – and only then by death. Nor was it any surprise when Wolsey was appointed his executor, or that any small labour involved should prove such a meagre price to pay. For, prior to Nanfan’s demise, he had commended his tireless assistant to the special favour of the king himself, and now at last the world was truly Wolsey’s oyster.
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‘At Anchor in the Port of Promotion’


When Thomas Wolsey first took up his new post as royal chaplain in 1507, the capital which greeted him must surely have seemed infinitely exciting and exotic, for although it was still an easy walk to the surrounding fields, London was, without doubt, one of the great cities of Europe. With a population of more than 50,000 jammed inside its crumbling walls and spilling out beyond them, it was a malodorous jumble of slums and ruins. But even if Londoners themselves were quite content to rely on scavenging rooks, ravens and jackdaws to keep their closely packed streets clean, visitors never failed to comment on the special charm of the place. Indeed, its teeming bridge, its serried churches, its splendid public buildings and well-built private houses ‘of old time built upon arched vaults with gates of stone’ were all universally admired. Even its wildlife, for that matter, attracted glowing praise. According to one foreign visitor, it was reckoned ‘a truly beautiful thing to behold one or two thousand swans upon the River Thames’.


Yet the newly arrived priest from Ipswich cannot have failed to notice either that London was manifestly a place of boundless opportunity. An observant Venetian diplomat had remarked some ten years earlier that:





In one single street named the Strand, leading to St. Paul’s, there are fifty-two goldsmiths’ shops so rich and full of silver vessels, great and small, that in all the shops of Rome, Venice and Florence together, I do not think there would be found so many of the magnificence that is to be seen in London.





More significantly still, perhaps, the Venetian would also note how ‘these great riches are not occasioned by its inhabitants being noblemen or gentlemen; being all on the contrary, persons of low degree, and artificers who have congregated here from all parts of the island, and from Flanders and from every other place’. Riches of all kinds, then, were readily available for anyone with the gift of acquisition and in Thomas Wolsey’s case these riches included political power and influence.


The role of royal chaplain was not, in fact, without possibilities all of its own, especially at this time. For by now Henry VII was shadowed increasingly by old age and sickness, and as his infirmity increased, so his resort to the consolations of religion became ever more pronounced. Though always a devoted son of the Church, one of the king’s greatest concerns during his last years was the endowment of the chapel in Westminster that still bears his name. Likewise, the king displayed an increasingly ‘singular devotion’ to the Blessed Virgin, while his growing preoccupation with his own mortality would also lead him ultimately to make detailed provision for the saying of ten thousand Masses endowed in honour of the Trinity, the Five Wounds of Christ, the nine orders of angels and the Five Joys of Our Lady.


Furthermore, King Henry’s superstitious belief in relics and miracles was beginning to border on the obsessional. A piece of the Holy Cross, for instance, brought all the way from Greece, now became one of his most treasured possessions, along with a leg of St George, which had supposedly been captured by Louis of France at the siege of Milan. Inevitably, too, the king’s attendance at divine service also occurred with greater regularity than ever. And now it was often Thomas Wolsey who celebrated Mass for his sovereign either in the royal chapel, or more intimately still, in the king’s own privy chamber, where an altar stood. On such occasions, moreover – at Richmond, Greenwich or Eltham – Prince Henry, the new heir to the throne, would usually have been present to witness the tall, dignified priest at his imposing best.


But Thomas Wolsey’s talents would also have supplied the king’s needs in much more significant ways. It was customary for the duties of a royal chaplain to extend well beyond the royal chapel itself, since the household of the first Tudor king, like that of his medieval predecessors, was still crucially important to the governance of the realm. Not least, it served as the normal source from which trained officials were recruited for all sorts of administrative tasks, and any chaplain worth his salt would therefore find himself involved in all kinds of extra duties – especially when he was equipped with the kind of university training that Wolsey could boast. Furthermore, Henry VII was a businessman king who believed, above all else, in the tidy management of his kingdom’s affairs, and for this reason he would always value raw ability more highly than nobility in his choice of assistants. An unusual king and exceptional commoner had thus met at a point in history which would lead, in the longer term, to the most extraordinary consequences.


Wolsey’s first task, however, was to attach himself to men of influence within the king’s circle and this was now brought about by a happy conjunction of circumstances. One layman who was quick to recognise the new chaplain’s worth was the witty and avuncular Sir Thomas Lovell, who had joined Henry Tudor during his French exile and gone on to fight for him at the battles of Bosworth and Stoke Field. By the time of Wolsey’s arrival at court, Sir Thomas was a veteran in the royal service and the bond between the kindly knight and his sovereign was of the strongest sort. In return for his assistance to the Tudor cause he had, for instance, been appointed Chancellor of the Exchequer for life and Master of the King’s Wards. Before that, he had served as Speaker of the House of Commons and since 1502 had been President of the Council. This, then, was a man of many parts and much influence around the throne. And like a number of other ‘ancient and grave councillors’, Lovell, it seems, came to look upon Wolsey – from the wisdom ‘packed in his head’ – as ‘a meet and apt person to be preferred in witty affairs’.


But it was Richard Fox, Bishop of Winchester and Lord Privy Seal, who became Wolsey’s most important patron. By 1507, Fox was 59 years old and had remained on the closest terms with the king for nearly thirty years, having faced exile with him in France during the dark days of Richard III. Indeed, such was the link between the two that it was Fox who had been invited in 1491 to baptise the future Henry VIII. Equally importantly from Thomas Wolsey’s point of view, Fox represented the clerical interest at court and, along with William Warham, Archbishop of Canterbury, he was wholeheartedly committed to safeguarding its interests. As a result, he stood out boldly against the old nobility and great landowners, and was keen to groom a suitably talented up-and-coming clergyman to continue his mission in the years ahead.


With rumbles of anticlericalism abroad in the land and growing signs of hostility toward the wealth, privileges and influence of the Church, Fox’s chief priority was to see that the Church had a champion at court – one young enough, hopefully, to grow into government over time and one, too, whose power would increase within Church and State simultaneously. For this ultimate purpose a priest who came into the service of the king inconspicuously, and grew through royal favour, was ideal, particularly if he had the kind of application and managerial acumen upon which Henry VII placed such emphasis.


However, there were other respects in which Wolsey was ideally placed to capitalise on Fox’s goodwill. As an inspector of Magdalen College, Fox will certainly have known a good deal about his new protégé, and the venerable bishop may well have identified him as a man after his own heart. Like him Wolsey had come from a humble background, and the chaplain was also making his way to the centre of national life via Oxford, just as Fox had done. Even more significantly, perhaps, Wolsey had already accumulated some significant experience of foreign affairs, as a result of his service in Calais, and this coincided perfectly with Fox’s own special area of expertise. Indeed, the bishop’s experience in this field was second to none and it was he who had successfully concluded the protracted marriage negotiations between the king’s eldest son and Catherine of Aragon.
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